FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 3/7/2024 12:58 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/7/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 39382-8-III 102863-6

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# CYNTHIA HEBERT and JAMES D. HEBERT, husband and wife,

Petitioner,

v.

# SPRING CREEK EASEMENT OWNERS ASSOCIATION (RMA) BOARD OF TRUSTEES,

Respondents.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Aaron P. Orheim WSBA #47670 Philip A. Talmadge WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Petitioner

##

#### A. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

This case concerns statutory redemption, an often "confused" mechanism of Washington law. Marjorie Dick Rombauer, § 3.19. Statutory redemption, 27 WASH. PRAC., CREDITORS' REMEDIES – DEBTORS' RELIEF § 3.19 (2022). Until this case, the rule in Washington has long been that "redemption statutes [are] remedial in nature, designed to help creditors recover their just demands, nothing more." GESA Fed. Credit Union v. Mut. Life Ins. Co. of New York, 105 Wn.2d 248, 255, 713 P.2d 728 (1986). Superior courts have always had power in equity to prevent forfeitures and void foreclosure sales that are "surrounded by unfair...circumstances." Millay v. Cam, 135 Wn.2d 193, 202, 955 P.2d 791 (1998); *Albice v. Premier Mortg.* Servs. of Washington, Inc., 157 Wn. App. 912, 239 P.3d 1148, 1158 (2010), aff'd, 174 Wn.2d 560 (2012).

Division III ignored these guidelines, affirming where the trial court held it had no power to entertain equitable relief to prevent the unjust forfeiture of Cythnia and James Hebert's

family home that was sold at sheriff's sale to a speculative real estate company to satisfy a judgment. The Heberts posted a substantial sum, what they thought the court had ordered as the amount necessary to redeem the property. Due to a comedy of errors, including the trial court's own failure to enter proper orders and clarify its rulings, their family home was forfeited, providing the company that bought it at sheriff's sale an inequitable windfall.

Review is warranted because Division III's decision conflicts with published precedent and is contrary to important public policy in Washington that protects families like the Heberts from forfeiture and foreclosure when equity demands it. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4). If left undisturbed, Division III's opinion will leave Washingtonians more vulnerable to foreclosure and predatory tactics going forward. Review is necessary.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division III of the Court of Appeals issued an opinion in

Cause No. 39382-8-III on February 6, 2024. The slip opinion is attached as an appendix.

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does a trial court have power to provide equitable relief to the statutory redemption process and/or allow a party the opportunity to cure a deficiency with redemption if equity demands to prevent the unjust forfeiture of a family home, thereby preventing an inequitable windfall to a speculative purchaser in a foreclosure sale?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The background facts of this dispute are undisputed and deceivingly simple. Cynthia and James Hebert own real property in Kittitas County that is part of Spring Creek Easement Homeowners Association. A dispute arose over interpreting the community's covenants; the Heberts lost. The trial court entered a judgment that awarded Spring Creek \$69,345.40 related to unpaid assessment, largely inflated by costs and attorney fees. CP 104-09. The principal dispute was over less than \$22,000. CP 30. The judgment included a decree of foreclosure because the disputed, unpaid assessments attached as a lien to the

property. *See* RCW 64.90.485. The Heberts appealed, and in an unpublished opinion Division III confirmed the award and awarded additional contractual attorney fees and costs on appeal. *Hebert v. Spring Creek Easement Owners Ass'n*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 1084, 2021 WL 1103602 (2021).

On remand, the Heberts allowed the property to be sold at sheriff's sale to satisfy the judgment, and they planned to exercise their right to redeem their property under chapter 6.23 RCW. Filbert Hill LLC bought the property for \$152,617.00, depositing that amount in the court registry. CP 112-11. The Heberts filed a notice of intent to redeem the same day the property sold. CP 116-17. Under the redemption statute, they had up to eight months to redeem the property by paying the purchase price and other costs. RCW 6.23.020(2). The Heberts continued to pay property taxes on the property by tendering them to their escrow account. CP 426-27.

Again, as the notice of sale reflected, the property sale was meant to satisfy the outstanding judgment against the Heberts,

which they could avoid "by paying the judgment amount of \$69,345.40, together with interest, costs and fees, before the sale date." CP 113. The Heberts contacted Spring Creek to calculate exactly how much interest, costs, and fees had accrued so they could redeem the property, and Spring Creek gave them at least five amounts, ranging from \$95,000 to \$172,780.19. CP 118.

Because of this confusion, the parties returned to court a few months after the sale. Spring Creek brought a motion to supplement the latest judgment, to add fees, costs, and additional assessments, claiming the Heberts owed \$161,137.71. CP 45-49. By then, Filbert Hill had appeared in the case, but it did not join in or oppose Spring Creek's motion. CP 42-44. The Heberts opposed the motion, calculating that they owed around \$135,000, reflecting interest and fees that had accrued on the judgment that the sale satisfied. CP 119.

The Kittitas County Superior Court, the Honorable Scott Sparks, agreed with the Heberts. The court entered a detailed ruling – Findings Conclusions and Order on Motion Confirming

Sheriff's Sale of Real Property. In the order, the court gave precise instructions for how the Heberts could redeem the property:

The Sheriff's Sale conducted on December 10, 2021 is hereby confirmed, pursuant to RCW 6.23.080. Plaintiffs retain the right to redeem the subject real property upon payment of the sum of \$135,323.03 into the Court Registry. Upon redemption, the Clerk of the Court shall disburse the sum \$135,323.03 from the Court Registry to Defendant and refund the balance to Filbert Hill, LLC. Plaintiffs' redemption must be effected by 4:30 p.m. on August 10, 2022. Should Plaintiffs' fail to redeem the subject real property in a timely fashion, the Sheriff shall issue a Sheriff's Deed in favor of the successful bidder, Filbert Hill, LLC, forthwith and the Clerk of the Court shall disburse all funds in the Court Registry to Defendant.

CP 153. Two days later, Filbert Hill acknowledged that ruling and tendered the Sheriff's certificate of sale to the trial court. CP 195-96. The Heberts posted \$135,323.03 as ordered by the court in the court's registry before the redemption period ran. CP 419.

Spring Creek moved for reconsideration, rearguing that it was entitled to more fees and assessments. CP 159-70. Again, Filbert Hill did not join in or oppose that motion. By letter ruling,

the trial court granted reconsideration to some extent. CP 230-31. But its short letter ruling was unclear in several respects.

First, the court stated that it was "in error when it denied (in part) the motion to supplement the judgment, because Spring Creek was and is not seeking to collect any funds accrued post Sheriff sale." CP 230. Beyond this one sentence, the court declined to clarify what other "parts," *if any*, of its prior order were erroneous.

Second, the court did not vacate its prior order. Instead, it said it "rectifies the error referenced above by the entry of the *Supplement Judgment* filed this date." CP 230. Thus, because it did not vacate the prior order, the provisions of the prior order on the procedures for redeeming the property seemingly remained in effect. Neither Spring Creek nor Filbert Hill ever appealed that order.

Third, the supplemental judgment the court entered was missing an entire page. CP 232-34 (appendix). There was a judgment summary on the first page listing \$182,523.42 owed in

total, but there was no accounting of how the court reached that amount. CP 233. What amounts it did list, beyond the judgment summary, were less than \$12,000. *Id.* There was therefore no way to tell if the judgment summary was accurate, or how the trial court arrived at that figure. Its letter ruling, for example, did not explain its reasoning. CP 230-31.<sup>1</sup>

Finally, unlike prior judgments, this judgment gave no indication that it attached to the real property as a lien or otherwise affected property *in rem* – it merely constituted a freestanding *in personam* judgment against the Heberts personally. CP 232-34.

The Heberts moved for reconsideration and/or clarification, pointing out these obvious errors. CP 236-46. By then, the eight-month redemption period was nearly over. The Heberts pleaded with the trial court to clarify the significance of

<sup>1</sup> The supplemental judgment also awarded attorney fees, but nowhere did it make any findings supporting its fee award or amount. CP 232-34.

the new, incomplete judgment: "Given the proximity of the redemption date, August 10, 2022, it is imperative that this Court give Plaintiffs a firm redemption/upset figure well prior to that date so that funds necessary can be marshalled." CP 245 (emphasis in original). The Heberts also asked for oral argument. CP 246.

Without hearing argument or even calling for a response, the trial court denied the Heberts' motion by a two-sentence letter ruling. CP 281. It refused to offer any clarification, not even correct the missing pages from the freestanding "Supplemental Judgment" it entered. *Id.* Left with no clarification what that *in personam* supplemental judgment meant, and ruling seemingly still in place that the sheriff sale was "confirmed" and the Heberts "retain the right to redeem the subject real property upon payment of the sum of \$135,323.03 into the Court Registry," the Heberts did exactly that. CP 419, 426-27.

About six weeks after the redemption period passed, Spring Creek and Filbert Hill brought motions to distribute the funds of the sale to Spring Creek and turn over possession of the property to Filbert Hill. CP 284-86, 298-304.

In its motion, Filbert Hill argued for yet another number (not the one in the incomplete supplemental judgment) that the Heberts needed to post to redeem the property, \$177,224.18. CP 300. Even though it never made this argument before and never appealed or even challenged the order setting a redemption amount, Filbert Hill argued that this number represented the amount of its bid, plus additional assessments and interest that accrued on the property as required to redeem the property under RCW 6.23.020. CP 298-304. It argued that the \$135,323.03 the Heberts posted in the court registry at the instruction of the trial court was not enough. CP 300-01. It therefore argued that "no redemption" occurred under the statute. *Id*.

The Heberts opposed these motions. CP 494-533. They argued that they did not have to post more than the \$135,323.03 specifically ordered by the Court to redeem the property, which they did. CP 427, 434. They argued that the supplemental

judgment was inadequate to impose a new *redemption* obligation. CP 494-533. At best, it was vague and unclear. *Id.* And they argued that the Heberts had a right to rely on the court's order that \$135,323.03 paid to the court registry would satisfy their redemption obligations as a matter of equity, particularly where Filbert Hill did not appeal that order and never raised the argument that the court's redemption instructions were insufficient until after the redemption period passed. *Id.* 

Despite its prior ruling that \$135,323.03 was the proper redemption amount, the trial court sided with Filbert Hill that the Heberts owed up to \$177,224.18 to properly redeem the property because that represented the "bid amount" plus assessments and interest under RCW 6.23.020(2). CP 368-71; RP 14. It then explained that despite its prior unclear instructions, it believed it had no power to grant any equitable relief and the Heberts should lose the property they tried to redeem:

So the question then becomes: Does the Court have the equitable -- now, if the law wasn't met, does the Court have the equitable power to waive the requirement of the law? And as I sit here today, I think the answer is no. So what I think needs to happen today is the Court needs to enter [Filbert Hill's] order.

#### RP 14.

The court invited the Heberts to move for reconsideration and provide authority for the court to grant equitable relief. RP 14-15. The Heberts provided authority showing that equity applies to redemption statutes and that doctrines of judicial estoppel, substantial compliance and equitable tolling applied. CP 374-87. The Heberts also requested oral argument. CP 374. The court refused to hear oral argument and denied the motion, thereby ruling their valuable family home was forfeited to Filbert Hill to satisfy the judgment. CP 477-78.

On appeal, Division III affirmed. Division III dodged the central question presented in the appeal – does a court have equitable power to prevent forfeiture and allow a party to cure technical defects in the statutory foreclosure process? Instead, it relied on another technical argument, that the Heberts should

have followed or appealed from the incomplete supplemental judgment. Op. 6-12. As discussed below, this makes little sense where the supplemental judgment was unclear, incomplete, and entered personally against the Heberts with nothing tying it to the property or foreclosure sale. Statutory redemption does not rely on *in personam* judgments, it relies on the foreclosure sale price, and courts have authority to provide equitable relief to prevent forfeitures or other unjust outcomes, contrary to the trial court's ruling.

This timely petition follows.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

### (1) A Brief Background on Redemption Rights

There are several types of redemption rights, which, as commentators have noted, are often confused. Rombauer, 27 WASH. PRAC., CREDITORS' REMEDIES – DEBTORS' RELIEF § 3.19. Washington is among various states that has some form of statutory redemption. *Id*.

The redemption statute at issue, chapter 6.23 RCW, dates

back to 1897, yet there are few authorities interpreting it. Spring Creek cited no case law when moving to reconsider the trial court's order that first set the redemption procedures and amount, CP 159-70, and Filbert Hill cited no case law when moving to issue a sheriff's deed after the redemption period passed. CP 298-304.

That said, this Court has at least made clear that "redemption statutes [are] remedial in nature, designed to help creditors recover their just demands, nothing more." *GESA*, 105 Wn.2d at 255 (quotation omitted). They offer a creditor the chance to recover amounts owed while avoiding forfeitures, which Washington courts disfavor both "at law" and in "equity." *Id*.

The redemption statutes allow a party to purchase foreclosed property that secures a debt or lien, like the Heberts' property in this case. The debtors then have the option to redeem the property after the sale. As commentators have noted, calling this process "redemption" can be misleading, "perhaps it should

have been called 'purchase option' instead of 'redemption." Rombauer, *supra*. Regardless, the statute aims to give the debtor "a grace period, beyond the sale, to salvage something. If they cannot personally come up with the money to redeem, they may sell their redemption rights to someone else for, hopefully, enough to recoup some of their losses." *Id*.

Ordinarily, a debtor redeems foreclosed property by paying what the purchaser paid, plus some fees, taxes, and other recoverable expenses listed by statute. RCW 6.23.020. The Heberts concede that this did not occur. Instead, after they and Spring Hill disagreed over the amount owed, they went to court to try to get clarity. The Heberts deposited \$135,323.03 into the court registry according to the trial court's order, but Filbert Hill paid \$152,617.00, plus several thousand dollars in recoverable assessments, which technically should have set the redemption amount under RCW 6.23.020.

As discussed below, the trial court erred by refusing to grant equitable relief to allow the Heberts to cure this technical

error. Published precedent establishes that equitable relief is available to cure faulty redemption, and the Heberts scrupulously tried to redeem their property starting the same day it sold and they filed a notice of intent to redeem. They followed the trial court's order outlining how redemption would work. And, with knowledge of that order, Filbert Hill failed to object or offer any argument that the amount and procedure set in the trial court's order was insufficient until six weeks after the redemption period passed.

Division III got this case wrong; the trial court had authority at law and equity to prevent the forfeiture of a valuable home because the redemption amount posted was just a fraction less than it technically should have been in an attempt to follow what seemed to be a valid court order. As explained below, Division III's opinion creates conflicts in law and creates bad public policy, with broad implications for Washingtonians, that warrant this court's attention. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

# (2) <u>Division III's Opinion Creates Conflicts with</u> <u>Established Precedent, Warranting Review</u>

This case is well-suited to Supreme Court review because it presents a purely legal question that has substantial importance to property owners facing possible foreclosure. "[T]he question of whether equitable relief is appropriate is a question of law." *Niemann v. Vaughn Cmty. Church*, 154 Wn.2d 365, 374, 113 P.3d 463 (2005). While appellate courts may give some deference to any factual determinations made by a trial court, this Court reviews questions of law including whether equitable relief is appropriate *de novo*. *Id*. Moreover, in the absence of clarifying authority from this Court, this problem will recur, to the detriment of debtors.

Here, the trial court committed legal error when it ruled it had no power to grant equitable relief, and Division III wrongfully affirmed, creating conflicts in established precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Our superior courts have plenary powers to hear matters

in equity, powers that flow directly from our state constitution. Wash. Const. art. IV, § 6. It has long been a practice of Washington courts to apply equity in the context of foreclosure sales executed to satisfy judgments. *See*, *e.g.*, *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. of Washington, Inc.*, 157 Wn. App. 912, 935, 239 P.3d 1148, 1159 (2010), *aff'd*, 174 Wn.2d 560 (2012) (equitable principles applied to set aside foreclosure sale); *Cox v. Helenius*, 103 Wn.2d 383, 388, 693 P.2d 683 (1985) (equity could require voiding a deed of trust foreclosure sale "even if the statutory requisites to foreclosure had been satisfied."); *Glepco, LLC v. Reinstra*, 175 Wn. App. 545, 555, 307 P.3d 744 (2013) (equitable principles like "mutual mistake" applied to foreclosure sale).

As this Court has stated, "There is no question but that equity has a right to step in and prevent the enforcement of a legal right whenever such an enforcement would be inequitable." *Miebach v. Colasurdo*, 102 Wn.2d 170, 177, 685 P.2d 1074

(1984) (setting aside inequitable foreclosure sale) (cleaned up).<sup>2</sup>

Again, this Court has specifically found that "redemption statutes [are] remedial in nature, designed to help creditors recover their just demands, nothing more." *GESA*, 105 Wn.2d at 255. Thus, they should be liberally construed. *Id.* "Where a party, in exercising its redemption right, commits a technical but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> An exception to equitable relief as to foreclosure sales is on resale to a bona fide purchaser. "A bona fide purchaser for value is one who without notice of another's claim of right to, or equity in, the property prior to his acquisition of title, has paid the vendor a valuable consideration." *Miebach*, 102 Wn.2d at 175. Of course, Filbert Hill is not a bona fide purchaser. It purchased property via a sheriff's sale, knowing that the Heberts had a legal and equitable interest in and right to redeem the property. A party who purchases an interest "sold to satisfy a judgment" knowing "that third parties claimed ownership or rights in the property" is not a bone fide purchaser. Casa del Rey v. Hart, 110 Wn.2d 65, 71, 750 P.2d 261 (1988). This is a term of art inapplicable to speculative, investment purchases by corporate entities that buy property subject to redemption rights for below its market value to satisfy a judgment on the hope the redemption will fall through. *Id.* (citing cases); see also, e.g., Metro. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Roberts, 72 Wn. App. 104, 113, 863 P.2d 615 (1993) (purchaser only acquires "the exact estate purchased—property subject to redemption rights" and unlike typical buyers it has "no right to alter the nature of the property" until after the redemption period runs).

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