FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/3/2024 8:39 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

### SUPREME COURT NO. 1028636 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 393828-III

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CYNTHIA HEBERT and JAMES D. HEBERT, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

v.

SPRING CREEK EASEMENT OWNERS ASSOCIATION (RMA) BOARD OF TRUSTEES,

Respondents.

FILBERT HILL'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Douglas W. Nicholson, WSBA #24854 Jeff Slothower, WSBA #14526 Lathrop, Winbauer, Harrel & Slothower, LLP Attorneys for Respondent Filbert Hill P.O. Box 1088/415 E. Mountain View Ave., Ste. 302 Ellensburg WA 98926 (509) 925-6916

### **

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

## A. The Heberts Have Failed to Meet the Requirements Under RAP 13.4(b) to Warrant Discretionary Review.

RAP 13.4(b) provides:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court **only**:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

(Emphasis added.) The Heberts do not argue that the Unpublished Opinion involves a significant question of state or federal constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Rather, they argue that review is proper under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). Each of these alleged grounds for review is, however, facially without merit.

## 1. The Unpublished Opinion is Not in Conflict With Any Decision of This Court.

The Heberts' petition is essentially a meaningless synopsis of statutory redemption rights on foreclosed real property and equitable relief, which do not apply under the unique facts of this case. More importantly, the Heberts fail to demonstrate how the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion conflicts with any decision of this Court. Indeed, the Court of Appeals' decision did not rely or otherwise depend on this Court's prior decisions regarding the law of statutory redemption, or when equity will grant relief from a party's failure to comply with the statutory requirements.

To the contrary, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision simply because the Heberts failed to timely appeal the trial court's prior final supplemental judgment. *See* Unpublished Opinion at 8-11.

In short, the Court of Appeals' decision turned on the unique facts of this case; specifically, whether the Heberts timely appealed the judgment in question, which is an issue they failed to raise and meaningfully address in their Petition for Review. The Court of Appeals' passing reference to Washington's statutory right of redemption, at page 3 of the Unpublished Opinion, is not in conflict with any decision of this Court. Likewise, the Unpublished Opinion's legal analysis of the principles regarding equitable relief, and the finality of judgments and the timeliness of taking an appeal, are not in conflict with any decision of this Court. *See* Unpublished Opinion at 7-8, 10-11.

Accordingly, the Heberts' request for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is without merit.

## 2. The Unpublished Opinion is Not in Conflict with a Published Decision of the Court of Appeals.

The preceding arguments apply with full force and effect here. Tellingly, the Heberts admit that their request for equitable relief turns on the unique facts of this case, thus undermining their argument that the Unpublished Opinion conflicts with published Court of Appeals' decisions. In the Heberts' own words:

While the precise facts here are unique, Division III's opinion conflicts with the guidelines established by published precedent that should govern equitable relief in the context of forfeiture sales, thus warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Pet. for Rev. at 22 (emphasis added). The Heberts, however, fail to meaningfully explain how the "unique" facts of this unpublished case conflict with "the guidelines" set forth in published cases so that this Court should intervene to resolve the alleged, but never established, conflict. "This court will not consider claims insufficiently argued by the parties." *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Elliott*, 114 Wn.2d 6, 15, 785 P.2d 440 (1990).

No case relied upon by the Heberts remotely involves the

unique, dispositive facts on which the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion was decided; that is, the Heberts' failure to file an appeal from the final supplemental judgment from which they now seek equitable relief. RAP 5.2(a) mandates that an appellant must file a notice of appeal within thirty days of entry of the final judgment, which the Heberts failed to do. *See* Unpublished Opinion at 8. And the Heberts have failed to cite any authority that would grant them equitable relief from such failure. "Contentions that are not supported by argument or authority will not be considered by [this Court]." *Talps v. Arreola*, 83 Wn.2d 655, 657, 521 P.2d 206 (1974).

Moreover, "[u]npublished opinions of the Court of Appeals have no precedential value and are not binding on any court." GR 14.1(a). This rule further establishes that there is simply no conflict with the Unpublished Opinion and a published decision of the Court of Appeals that would require acceptance of review by this Court. The Heberts' reliance on RAP 13.4(b)(2) as a ground for discretionary review is thus unwarranted.

# 3. The Unpublished Opinion Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Should be Determined by This Court.

As the Heberts admit, and as evident from the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion, which is of no precedential value per GR 14.1(a), the facts of this case are unique. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 22; Unpublished Opinion at 2-6. Moreover, the Heberts' petition makes clear that the case law governing the statutory right of redemption and equitable relief are well-developed. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 1, 13-15, 16-24. Accordingly, resolution of this uniquely private dispute does not involve "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by [this Court]." RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Heberts have failed to identify any similar appeal or case, and they have not established any other reason that would make this Court's resolution of this fact-specific private dispute an issue of substantial public interest. In short, because the resolution of this unique dispute will affect nobody besides the parties themselves, the Heberts' request for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is baseless.

## B. Filbert Hill Should be Awarded Fees and Costs Against Heberts or Their Counsel as Sanctions Under RAP 18.9(a).

RAP 18.9(a) authorizes this Court to order "a party or counsel" who "files a frivolous appeal, or fails to comply with these rules to pay terms or compensatory damages to any other party who has been harmed [thereby]." "An appeal is frivolous if there are no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ and it is so totally devoid of merit that there was no reasonable possibility of reversal." *Fay v. Northwest Airlines, Inc.*, 115 Wn.2d 194, 200-201, 796 P.2d 412 (1990). Such is the case here.

# 1. The Heberts Failed to Raise the Court of Appeals' Actual Holding as an Issue for Review, and There is No Reasonable Grounds for Reversal.

The Court of Appeals correctly upheld the trial court's decision because the Heberts failed to timely file an appeal within the mandatory thirty-day deadline after entry of the final judgment in question. *See* Unpublished Opinion at 1-2, 8-10. There is no debatable issue upon which reasonable minds can differ regarding this fact; hence, there is no reasonable possibility of reversal. The

Heberts themselves concede this inescapable conclusion because they have failed to cite a single authority that would grant them equitable relief from their failure to appeal. "Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none." *DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962).

Moreover, the Heberts have failed to meaningfully address the Court of Appeals' holding; that is, their failure to file an appeal from the final judgment they dispute. In fact, the Heberts failed to even raise this as an issue for review. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 3. This failure violates RAP 13.4(c)(5) and RAP 10.3(a)(4) and is, by itself, fatal to the Heberts' petition, thus compelling its denial and an award of sanctions. *See, e.g., State v. Collins*, 121 Wn.2d 168, 178-79, 847 P.2d 919 (1993) (holding that, pursuant to RAP 13.4(c)(5), an issue presented for review must be concisely stated in the issues for review and not in the argument section) (citing *Clam Shacks of Am., Inc. v. Skagit County*, 109 Wn.2d 91,

98, 743 P.2d 265 (1987)); *see also* RAP 18.9(a) (authorizing sanctions for filing a frivolous appeal or failing to comply with the Rules of Appellate Procedure).

# 2. The Heberts Falsely Assert That Filbert Hill Was Not a Bona Fide Purchaser at the Sheriff's Sale, Which is Fatal to Their Claim for Equitable Relief.

Instead of raising and arguing the issue of why the Court of Appeals erred in its holding, and why they are entitled to equitable relief for failing to appeal the trial court's final judgment in question, the Heberts incorrectly assume their appeal was proper, then raise the following single issue in their Petition for Review:

Does a trial court have power to provide equitable relief to the statutory redemption process and/or allow a party the opportunity to cure a deficiency with redemption if equity demands to prevent the unjust forfeiture of a family home, thereby preventing an inequitable windfall to *a speculative purchaser* in a foreclosure sale?

See Pet. for Rev. at 3 (emphasis added); see also id. at 2 (asserting, without citation to the record, that the Heberts' home "was sold at [the] sheriff's sale to a speculative real estate company").

The Heberts thus imply that Filbert Hill was not a bona fide

purchaser at the sheriff's sale; yet their petition fails to cite to the record, or otherwise provide a shred of evidence, to support this position. *See*, *e.g.*, Pet. for Rev. at 3-13 (Heberts' Statement of the Case). Sanctions against the Heberts under RAP 18.9(a) are thus warranted for their "failure to comply with [the Rules of Appellate Procedure]." Specifically, RAP 10.3(a)(5) requires a party to present "[a] fair statement of the facts and procedure relevant to the issues presented for review, without argument." The Heberts have failed to do so.

Moreover, the Heberts' entire equitable argument rests on their above lack of candor. After conceding they would not be entitled to equitable relief if Filbert Hill was a bona fide purchaser, the Heberts assert, again without citation to the record, that "Filbert Hill is not a *bona fide* purchaser." *See* Pet. for Rev. at 19, note 2. The law is well-settled that appellate courts do not consider arguments that are not supported by any reference to the record. *See, e.g., Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (citing RAP 10.3(a)(5); *McKee v.* 

American Home Prods. Corp., 113 Wn.2d 701, 705, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989)).

As the Heberts acknowledge: "A bona fide purchaser for value is one who without notice of another's claim of right to, or equity in, the property *prior to his acquisition* of title, has paid the vendor a valuable consideration." See Pet. for Rev. at 19, note 2 (emphasis added) (quoting Miebach v. Colasurdo, 102 Wn.2d 170, 175, 685 P.2d 1074 (1984)). It is uncontroverted that, at the time of the sheriff's sale on December 10, 2021 (CP 8), Filbert Hill had no knowledge of any legal or equitable interest in the property other than the Heberts' statutory redemption right. Indeed, the dispute over whether the Heberts failed to comply with the redemption statute did not arise until after the Heberts' attorney drafted the order entered by the trial court on June 14, 2022. CP 151-154; Unpublished Opinion at 2, 4-6.

Besides failing to provide any evidence to support their naked assertion that Filbert Hill was not a bona fide purchaser, the Heberts misleadingly cite *Casa del Rey v. Hart*, 110 Wn.2d 65, 71, 750 P.2d 261 (1988), in arguing that "[a] party who purchases an interest 'solely to satisfy a judgment' knowing 'that *third parties* claimed ownership or rights in the property' is not a *bona fide* purchaser." *See* Pet. for Rev. at 19, note 2 (emphasis added). The Heberts, however, do not have *a third-party ownership claim* in their own property.<sup>1</sup>

Moreover, the Heberts again fail to cite to the record, or provide any other evidence, that Filbert Hill had knowledge of any third party's (in this case Spring Creek's) interest in the property at *the time of the sheriff's sale*. CP 8, 151-154. To the contrary, during oral argument before the trial court, held on October 10, 2022, some ten months *after* the sheriff's sale of December 10, 2021, the Heberts' counsel admitted that Filbert Hill "to the best

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although Filbert Hill, like any other similar purchaser of property at a sheriff's sale, presumably had knowledge of the Heberts' statutory redemption right, such knowledge cannot, as a matter of law, disqualify Filbert Hill from being a bona fide purchaser; otherwise, there could never be a bona fide purchaser at any sheriff's sale under RCW 6.23.020.

of my knowledge has acted in good faith[.]" VRP at 12; CP 8.

The Heberts' above misrepresentations of the record and legal authority are egregious and violate the Rules of Appellate Procedure, including RAP 10.3(a)(5). It is beyond reasonable debate that the Heberts' petition for equitable relief fails because Filbert Hill was a bona fide purchaser. Sanctions are thus warranted under RAP 18.9(a). *Fay*, 115 Wn.2d at 200-201.<sup>2</sup>

3. The Superseded Judgment on Which The Heberts Relied Was Prepared by Their Own Attorney, Thus Barring Their Claim For Equitable Relief Under the Invited Error Doctrine.

Further warranting sanctions under RAP 18.9(a) is the Heberts' failure to disclose to this Court that it was their own attorney who prepared and presented the very judgment upon which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At pages 28-30 of its respondent's brief filed with the Court of Appeals, Filbert Hill pointed out that the Heberts failed to produce any evidence to indicate that Filbert Hill was not a bona fide purchaser at the sheriff's sale on December 10, 2021. This Court should not treat lightly the fact that the Heberts have repeated this failure in their Petition for Review, despite having been put on notice of same.

they now claim they mistakenly relied in failing to comply with the statutory redemption requirements. CP 151-154. "A party cannot properly seek review of an alleged error which the party invited." *Davis v. Globe Mach. Mfg. Co., Inc.*, 102 Wn.2d 68, 77, 684 P.2d 692 (1984).

Filbert Hill did not contribute to the Heberts' counsel's preparation and presentation of that order; indeed, Filbert Hill had no knowledge of the order until after it was entered (Filbert Hill was neither served with a copy of the proposed order nor the notice of its presentation to the trial court (CP 144-154); nor was Filbert Hill present at the hearing when the Heberts' counsel caused the court to sign the order (CP 155)).

In short, the Heberts' claim for equitable relief against Filbert Hill also appears to rest upon their bald assertion that, <u>after</u> <u>acquiring the property</u> at the sheriff's sale, Filbert Hill failed to take any action to challenge the trial court's subsequent judgment, which was prepared by the Heberts' own counsel and which they claim caused them to fail to redeem their property.

However, in the absence of a fiduciary or other special relationship, which does not exist here, Filbert Hill had no duty to speak or otherwise relieve the Heberts from the consequences of their self-inflicted mistake. *Oates v. Taylor*, 31 Wn.2d 898, 904, 199 P.2d 924 (1948) (where the parties are dealing at arms-length, there is no duty to speak where the relevant facts and information are equally available to both parties); *Ticor Title Ins. Co. of California, Inc. v. Nissell*, 73 Wn.App. 818, 824, 871 P.2d 652 (1994) (there was no duty to speak where "both parties knew the underlying facts regarding [the] lien, and each could determine the law").

A party may not base a claim of equitable estoppel, which is essentially what the Heberts are doing, where the claim is based on their own conduct. *Nissell*, 73 Wn.App. at 824-25; *see also Saunders v. Lloyd's of London*, 113 Wn.2d 330, 340-42, 779 P.2d 249 (1989).

### 4. The Heberts' Grounds for Review Are Frivolous.

Sanctions under RAP 18.9(a) are also appropriate because the three grounds upon which the Heberts base their Petition for

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